

CITY OF NEWTON

BOARD OF ALDERMEN

PROGRAMS AND SERVICES COMMITTEE REPORT

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 7, 2009

Present: Ald. Johnson (Chairman), Baker, Brandel, Freedman, Hess-Mahan, Merrill, Sangiolo

Absent: Ald. Parker

Also Present: Ald. Danberg and Harney

Others Present: Daniel Funk (City Solicitor), Eileen McGettigan (Asst. City Solicitor), Sandy Guryan (Asst. Supt. Newton Public Schools), Marc Laredo (Chairman, School Committee), Diana Robbins (Director, Career and Technical Ed.), Dr. Alex White (VP, Mass Thoracic Society), Kathy Flood and Scott Keyes (Mass. Lung Association), D.J. Wilson (Tobacco Control Director, MMA), Linda Walsh (Director, Newton Health Services), Karyn Dean (Committee Clerk)

#296-09 HIS HONOR THE MAYOR appointing John M. MacGillivray as the Veteran's Agent and Licensing Board Administrative Director. [09-29-09 @ 12:29 PM]

ACTION: **APPROVED 5-0 (Ald. Brandel and Freedman not voting)**

NOTE: Mr. MacGillivray attended the September 23, 2009 Programs & Services Committee meeting. He was introduced to the Committee and shared his professional experience at that time. The Committee voted to approve this appointment.

#297-09 HIS HONOR THE MAYOR requesting that the Board of Aldermen designate City Solicitor, Daniel M. Funk, as the liaison to the State Ethics Commission to assist in the City's compliance efforts with the new requirements of the conflict of interest law. [09-29-09 @ 12:28 PM]

ACTION: **APPROVED 6-0 (Ald. Brandel not voting)**

NOTE: Dan Funk explained that there were some changes to the conflict of interest law on July 1, 2009. The changes that apply to this item include a designation of a liaison to the State Ethics Commission. Mr. Funk suggested that the City Solicitor be the liaison because the City Solicitor is already the entity in the City to respond to conflict of interest questions within the statute. Another change is the requirement of distributing a summary of the conflict of interest law to every employee, every year. The summary is created by the Ethics Commission and David Olson has already started the distribution process. (The MMA is asking the Inspector General's Office if the state should be bearing some of the costs of this.) The compliance also requires that every employee

must sign an acknowledgement of receipt and return it to the City Clerk. The Clerk has to keep the receipts as a matter of record. Mr. Funk said the hope is to have this done electronically in the future, but right now it is a paper process. There is online training that is required as well. Employees log on, read some information and answer some questions. Mr. Funk has inquired about the possibility of recording the completion of this electronically as well. He believes the deadline for the online training has been extended to April 2, 2010. The state's purpose in all of this is to raise the awareness of all state and municipal employees of the conflict of interest laws. Right now there are no penalties for failure to complete the training.

Dan Funk mentioned that members of the Commission and Boards would be included as well. Ald. Baker said that there was also an indication that many part-time employees and volunteers would be subject to these requirements. Mr. Funk said there was much to be worked out and the state was taking many questions from many communities. He felt there would be more information forthcoming.

Ald. Hess-Mahan moved to approve Mr. Funk's appointment and the Committee voted in favor.

#292-08(2) PROGRAMS AND SERVICES COMMITTEE requesting that His Honor the Mayor develop a written policy of standards and processes that could be uniformly followed by community groups for the use of the branch library buildings. [11/07/08 @ 11:11 AM]

ACTION: **HELD 7-0**

NOTE: Dan Funk and Eileen McGettigan addressed the Committee. Mr. Funk explained that Ms. McGettigan has worked on the license agreements for the three branch libraries currently occupied by community groups (Nonantum, Waban and Auburndale). During that process, the Law Dept. received a draft of policy suggestions from Ald. Brandel and Sangiolo. Much of what was suggested was already incorporated in the license agreements that were underway.

Ald. Brandel said he would like to see a written set of standards or policies as this could set a precedent for future public/private partnerships within the City. The problem with the branch libraries was a commercial tenant wanted to use one of the branch library buildings. Mr. Funk said the zoning for the branch libraries was for public use and having a commercial entity was prohibited. For example, a community group could have a yoga class, but that yoga instructor could not have a commercial studio on the site. If there was some instance in which a commercial entity would be allowed, the taxation would change because market rate would then apply. However, the basic municipal principle of use of city property is for public purposes.

Mr. Funk said the licenses themselves were a good example of the policies. He didn't feel a written policy was necessary. They were as consistent as possible in all three circumstances. Ms. McGettigan said the three overriding principles were: it has to be consistent with zoning; it has to be revenue neutral; and there has to be equity among the

various users of the libraries. Ald. Johnson felt there should be a document with a clear set of standards and expectations. Ald. Brandel agreed saying these agreements were specific to the unique library situations and he felt there should be general guidelines established. Ald. Sangiolo agreed as well. She pointed out the Food Pantry was at one of the libraries without a license agreement. Mr. Funk said that arrangement was worked out between the pantry and the library, and perhaps the Mayor at that time. The agreements being negotiated at this point are being made under different circumstances. Mr. Funk said that policies change with new administrations. The licenses are a Mayoral exercise and the Board really has no control. In a reuse situation, it would be quite different but these are not reuse situations.

Mr. Funk said the he would put together a document that included the three principles expressed and other best practices that were reflected in the current licenses.

The Committee voted to hold this item until Mr. Funk can return with the document.

REFERRED TO PROGRAM AND SERVICES AND FINANCE COMMITTEES

#302-09 HIS HONOR THE MAYOR requesting the establishment of three School Department revolving funds; each fund is to be used for receiving and expending up to \$25,000 annually for the purpose of the deposit of revenue for customer services provided by students and for the payment of corresponding expenses for the Automotive Technology, Carpentry and Graphics Communications Departments. [09/17/09 @ 10:16 AM]

ACTION: **APPROVED 7-0**

NOTE: Sandy Guryan, Marc Laredo and Diana Robbins addressed the Committee regarding these revolving accounts. Ms. Guryan explained that the School Department already had a revolving account that was required by law for the Tiger's Loft (the student run restaurant at Newton North). Ms. Robbins wanted separate accounts for the Automotive, Carpentry and Graphics Communications Departments so that students may do projects and collect money from the sale of services or items. The collected money will help fund purchases that assist the programs. Ms. Guryan said the new Newton North High School will have great facilities for these departments. This is not a request for money, just the establishment of the accounts to accept and expend the money.

Ms. Robbins said the plan would be to charge a nominal fee on top of the cost of the materials used to repair a car, for example. They would place the fee into the revolving accounts to pay for equipment and supplies to support and supplement the programs.

Ald. Baker moved to approve this item and the Committee voted in favor.

REFERRED TO PUBLIC FACILITIES AND PROGRAMS & SERVICES

#8-09 ALD. HESS-MAHAN, LINSKY, ALBRIGHT, FREEDMAN, MANSFIELD, JOHNSON, HARNEY & VANCE proposing an ordinance requiring that the installation of synthetic in-filled turf athletic fields on

city-owned property shall use sustainable, recyclable, lead-free, non-toxic products to the maximum extent feasible. [12/30/08 @ 9:55 AM]

ACTION: **HELD 7-0**

NOTE: Ald. Hess-Mahan explained that a Resolution had been passed by the Board with the same language but the Mayor declined to act on this. Ald. Hess-Mahan met with the engineers who were designing the fields at Newton South High School. Ald. Freedman joined the conversation by telephone. The contractors felt the products were not tested and wanted more history and more vendors that offered the products. They also said they would do it if they were directed to. Ald. Hess-Mahan reminded the Committee that he had brought in the gentlemen who invented the crumb rubber that is currently being widely used. He is now one of the biggest proponents of using eco-friendly products made from organic or inert materials.

The major benefit would be to eliminate toxic substances and human exposure to them. These products have been in use in Europe from some time now with good results. The International Soccer League uses them on their synthetic fields. Another benefit is that these products don't heat up as much as the type currently used. These eco-friendly products wear just as well. As more communities put in synthetic fields, more problems are occurring with the presence of lead and other harmful products. He felt it just made sense to use the safest product feasible. He wanted Newton to be a leader. This will be a directive for the future with any new fields or replacement turf. Bob DeRubeis said he was in favor. It will be a learning process and he felt if they could find a more eco-friendly and safe product for future projects, he was in favor of using it. It would, of course, have to fit with the budgetary constraints of the City. Ald. Johnson noted that if the Board approved this new ordinance, they could use an eco-friendly product for the Newton North High School fields.

Ald. Brandel was concerned about how it could be determined what the "maximum extent feasible" would be. He was also concerned that these newer products have not been used in the United States, just in Europe. Ald. Johnson noted that Europe has been far ahead of the United States in many areas and just because the product has not been widely used in the US, should not be a deterrent. Ald. Freedman said he supported the installation of the synthetic turf fields. His research showed that they were safe. But he felt if they could find a product that was more environmentally friendly and fit the budget, he could support its use. Ald. Hess-Mahan said Wellesley has used a product that has no lead in it.

Follow Up

Ald. Hess-Mahan said he would work with the Law Department to craft some language for a new ordinance and make the intent as clear as possible.

The Committee voted to hold this item.

#232-09 ALD. HESS-MAHAN, DANBERG AND FREEDMAN requesting an amendment to the City of Newton Ordinances to ban the sale of tobacco products at pharmacies in Newton. [07/16/09 @ 9:42 AM]

ACTION: **HELD 7-0**

NOTE: Ald. Hess-Mahan explained that Boston was the first city in Massachusetts to implement a ban on tobacco sales in pharmacies. Needham and Uxbridge have since adopted a ban as well. This policy has been endorsed by the American Pharmacists Association since 1970. The cigarette companies tried to appeal the ban that was in place in San Francisco, but the 9th circuit court of appeals upheld the ban. Bans are in place in Canada as well. Massachusetts is ahead of the curve in limiting tobacco sales in the United States.

Proposed Changes to Ordinance

D.J. Wilson provided a handout for the Committee which is attached to this report. It lists the pharmacies that are tobacco free throughout the state. He went through Newton's ordinance to amend and simplify it to include this ban. He added the Boston language to define a healthcare institution to include pharmacies and hospitals. The proposed definitions are attached to this report. He said Boston's ban has been in effect since last December or January and has worked well.

Background Information and Support

Dr. Alex White said he was the VP of the Massachusetts Thoracic Society, Chief of Pulmonary at New England Sinai Hospital in Stoughton, and a Newton resident. He said his colleagues in pulmonary medicine as well as cardiac and other medicines all care for people with illnesses developed from smoking. Dr. White stated that tobacco use was the single most preventable cause of death in the United States today, and that smoking kills more citizens than auto accidents, HIV, alcohol, illegal drug use, murders and suicides combined. Lung disease develops over a long period of time and symptoms of lung disease take a long time to develop. This gives ample time for addiction. He said tobacco companies knew this and targeted young people as a result.

Dr. White said doctors use drugs to treat the symptoms of shortness of breath, cough, chest infections, etc. An important part of the therapeutic team was pharmacists. He said that members of the Mass Thoracic Society (MTS) and the Mass Medical Society felt that all health professionals have a special obligation to promote public health. As a result, tobacco products were not sold in doctor's offices, hospitals or outpatient clinics. They believed these products should not be sold in pharmacies. They also believed that all licensed health care professionals should be able to operate in an environment that was free from the sale of tobacco products. To have people go to pharmacies to get their drugs for treating tobacco-related illnesses, and be presented with tobacco products for sale was sending the wrong message. The members of MTS have lobbied CVS, Walgreens and other big chain pharmacies to stop selling tobacco products and they have refused. The chain stores stated that they understood the request but they made a lot of money from these sales. Ald. Hess-Mahan pointed out that Walgreens and Rite-Aid have their own brand of cigarettes. He said that there were documents between some big chain

pharmacies and tobacco companies stating they could aid in tobacco sales because they had the reputation of promoting good health. He said that because pharmacists were licensed healthcare professionals, they had a responsibility to promote good health and work in an environment that did the same.

Business Impact

Ald. Brandel thought the pharmacies should be heard from. He supported the concept of the ban but wanted to be careful about impacting the financial security of businesses in Newton. Ald. Brandel asked if they would extend the ban to grocery stores that sold health products. Mr. Wilson said it would apply to establishments that fell within the definition of a health care institution. If the grocery store had an in-store pharmacy, then it would apply. If not, then it would not.

Selling to Minors/Licensing

Ald. Hess-Mahan pointed out that there had been a large increase in stores selling to minors, particularly drug stores. Linda Walsh stated that there were 60 establishments in Newton with tobacco seller licenses and 10 of those were pharmacies. She stated the money for compliance checks has decreased. In June of 2009, Eatons, Walgreens, and CVS were all fined for selling to minors; and 13 other non-pharmacy establishments were also fined. Mr. Wilson said that Worcester has been contemplating limiting the number of tobacco seller licenses it issues in the City, similar to liquor licenses. Mr. Wilson said a license fee should reflect the cost of issuing the permit and enforcing it. In times past, many communities had only nominal fees. He provided a handout that lists some communities and their licenses fees.

Process

Ald. Johnson asked why this was not being tackled at the state level. Mr. Wilson said there was a bill with testimony this past June, but it hasn't moved since then. Dr. White said the state process moved slowly, so they thought they would start town by city to get the process going. Ald. Freedman strongly supported this item. He said he would like to see society move toward the complete eradication of tobacco products. Ald. Danberg agreed. Ald. Freedman didn't think tobacco usage in the city would be radically changed by banning it from 10 out of 60 establishments. However, he felt this was a good step because it was a change in the right direction both materially and symbolically.

Follow Up

Ald. Sangiolo suggested docketing another item to raise the tobacco seller license fee. She will follow up with the Law Department to explore what the limitations on that might be. The Committee felt there should be a public meeting to hear from businesses and citizens on this issue. This will take place at the November 4 Programs & Services Committee meeting. The Committee voted to hold this item.

Meeting adjourned.

Respectfully Submitted,

Marcia Johnson, Chairman

#232-09

Comments and suggestions by Julia Feldman, Esq. member of Advisory Council of Health and Human Services:

Deleted: ¶

Health care provider: An individual, partnership, association, corporation or trust or any person or organization that provides health care services and employs health care providers licensed, or subject to licensing, by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health under M.G.L. c. 112. Health care provider includes hospitals, clinics, health centers, pharmacies, drug stores (only if they provide services) and doctor and dentist offices.

Deleted: institution

Deleted: group of persons

Deleted: institution

(h) *Prohibition of the Sale of Tobacco Products by Health Care Institutions:*

No health care institution located in the City of Newton shall sell or cause to be sold tobacco products. No retail establishment that operates or maintains a health care provider located on its premises, such as a pharmacy or drug store, shall sell or cause to be sold tobacco products

Deleted: has

Deleted: institution within it

Affected Pharmacies w/sales ban #232-09

Name	Address	Town	Zip	Last Visit
CVS Pharmacy	323 North Main Street	Uxbridge		Nov-08
Hannaford Food & Drug	158 North Main Street	Uxbridge		Mar-08
BROOKS PHARMACY (Rite Aid)	1100 DORCHESTER AV	BOSTON	02125	Feb-09
BROOKS PHARMACY (Rite Aid)	181 BRIGHTON AV	BOSTON	02134	Feb-09
BROOKS PHARMACY (Rite Aid)	399 MARKET ST	BOSTON	02135	Apr-08
BROOKS PHARMACY (Rite Aid)	540 GALLIVAN BLVD	BOSTON	02124	Nov-08
CODMAN SQUARE PHARMACY	624 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02124	Mar-09
COMPTON DRUG	393 COLUMBIA RD	BOSTON	02125	Jan-09
CRAWFORD DRUG	1735 DORCHESTER AV	BOSTON	02124	Dec-08
CVS PHARMACY	1249 BOYLSTON ST	BOSTON	02215	May-09
CVS PHARMACY	1266 COMMONWEALTH AV	BOSTON	02134	Feb-09
CVS PHARMACY	151 TREMONT ST	BOSTON	02111	Apr-09
CVS PHARMACY	155 CHARLES ST	BOSTON	02114	Feb-09
CVS PHARMACY	191 CAMBRIDGE ST	BOSTON	02114	Feb-09
CVS PHARMACY	1918 CENTRE ST	BOSTON	02132	Feb-08
CVS PHARMACY	1921 CENTRE ST	BOSTON	02132	May-09
CVS PHARMACY	1927 BEACON	BOSTON	02135	Dec-08
CVS PHARMACY	2 CENTER PLAZA	BOSTON	02108	Mar-09
CVS PHARMACY	210 BORDER ST	BOSTON	02128	Dec-08
CVS PHARMACY	218 HANOVER ST	BOSTON	02113	May-09
CVS PHARMACY	2235 DORCHESTER AV	BOSTON	02124	Dec-08
CVS PHARMACY	231 MASSACHUSETTS AV	BOSTON	02115	Mar-09
CVS PHARMACY	240 NEWBURY ST	BOSTON	02116	Jun-09
CVS PHARMACY	263 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02108	Feb-09
CVS PHARMACY	3 POST OFFICE SQ	BOSTON	02109	May-09
CVS PHARMACY	333 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02111	Oct-08
CVS PHARMACY	333 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02108	Apr-09
CVS PHARMACY	340 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02108	Nov-07
CVS PHARMACY	400 TREMONT ST	BOSTON	02116	Jun-09
CVS PHARMACY	423 WEST BROADWAY	BOSTON	02127	Apr-09
CVS PHARMACY	427 WASHINGTON	BOSTON	02135	Apr-09
CVS PHARMACY	467 CENTRE ST	BOSTON	02130	May-09
CVS PHARMACY	468 BLUE HILL AV	BOSTON	02121	Mar-09
CVS PHARMACY	509 MAIN ST	BOSTON	02129	Jun-09
CVS PHARMACY	55 SUMMER ST	BOSTON	02110	Jun-09
CVS PHARMACY	587 BOYLSTON ST	BOSTON	02116	Jun-09
CVS PHARMACY	631 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02111	Nov-08
CVS PHARMACY	647 VFW PKWY	BOSTON	02467	Mar-09
CVS PHARMACY	703 GALLIVAN BLVD	BOSTON	02124	Mar-09
CVS PHARMACY	704 CENTRE ST	BOSTON	02130	May-09
CVS PHARMACY	715 WILLIAM T MORRISSEY BLVD	BOSTON	02122	Dec-08
CVS PHARMACY	730 COMMONWEALTH AV	BOSTON	02215	
CVS PHARMACY	778 DUDLEY ST	BOSTON	02124	Mar-09
CVS PHARMACY	874 HARRISON AVE	BOSTON	02118	Mar-09
CVS PHARMACY	942A HYDE PARK AVE	BOSTON	02136	May-09
CVS PHARMACY #1876	900 COMMONWEALTH AVE	BOSTON	02215	
D & M POWERS INC (W. Roxbury Pharmacy)	1868 CENTRE ST	BOSTON	02132	Dec-08
HYDE PARK PHARMACY	1461 RIVER ST	BOSTON	02136	Nov-08
J & G EINSIDLER CORP (610 TREMONT DRUG)	610 TREMONT ST	BOSTON	02118	Feb-09
KORNFIELD DRUG	2121 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02119	Oct-08
MAXIM PHARMACY	1365 DORCHESTER AV	BOSTON	02122	
MELVIN PHARMACY	1558 COMMONWEALTH AV	BOSTON	02135	Dec-08
PAT JAYS PHARMACY	940 DORCHESTER AV	BOSTON	02125	Mar-08
RITE AID	710 E BROADWAY ST	BOSTON	02127	May-08
RITE AID	969 BENNINGTON ST	BOSTON	02128	Nov-08
RITE AID	100 CAMBRIDGE ST	BOSTON	02114	Feb-09
RITE AID	1150 SARATOGA	BOSTON	02128	Dec-08
RITE AID	1295 BOYLSTON ST	BOSTON	02215	Jan-09
RITE AID	1329 HYDE PARK AVE	BOSTON	02136	May-09
RITE AID	4600 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02131	Oct-08
RITE AID	710 EAST BROADWAY ST	BOSTON	02127	Apr-09
RITE AID	90 RIVER ST	BOSTON	02126	Feb-09
RITE AID	969 BENNINGTON ST	BOSTON	02128	

(over)

ROSLINDALE PHARMACY LTD	452 HYDE PARK AVE	BOSTON	02131	Mar-09
STRAND PHARMACY	533 COLUMBIA RD	BOSTON	02125	Feb-09
SULLIVAN'S PHARMACY INC	1 CORINTH ST	BOSTON	02131	Nov-08
TAI TUNG PHARMACY	256 HARRISON AV	BOSTON	02111	Feb-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	1 CENTRAL SQ	BOSTON	02128	
WALGREENS PHARMACY	1 KELLY SQ	BOSTON	02128	Jun-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	1065 TRUMAN PKWY	BOSTON	02136	May-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	130 BOWDOIN ST	BOSTON	02122	Jan-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	160 TREMONT ST	BOSTON	02111	Nov-07
WALGREENS PHARMACY	1603 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02118	Feb-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	1630 TREMONT ST	BOSTON	02120	Jan-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	1890 COLUMBUS AVE	BOSTON	02119	Apr-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	1991 CENTRE ST	BOSTON	02132	May-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	2275 WASHINGTON ST	BOSTON	02119	Apr-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	416 WARREN ST	BOSTON	02119	Apr-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	583 WASHINGTON ST # 585	BOSTON	02124	Mar-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	70 SUMMER ST	BOSTON	02110	Oct-06
WALGREENS PHARMACY	757 GALLIVAN BLVD	BOSTON	02122	Apr-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	825 MORTON ST	BOSTON	02126	Feb-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	841 BOYLSTON ST	BOSTON	02116	Jan-09
WALGREENS PHARMACY	972 AMERICAN LEGION HWY	BOSTON	02131	Apr-09
CVS PHARMACY	936 HIGHLAND AVE	NEEDHAM	2494	
CVS PHARMACY	980 GREAT PLAIN AVE	NEEDHAM	2492	
WALGREENS PHARMACY	1478 HIGHLAND AVE	NEEDHAM	2492	

#232 09

Municipal Tobacco Control Technical Assistance Program

Donald J. Wilson, Director
Massachusetts Municipal Association
One Winthrop Square, Boston, MA 02110

(617) 426-7272
Fax: (617) 695-1314

TOBACCO SALES PERMIT ANNUAL FEES

- \$525:** Needham (1)
- \$500:** Arlington (1)
- \$300:** Bellingham, Milford (2)
- \$250:** Brookline, Melrose, Wellesley (3)
- \$200:** Lexington, Milton, New Bedford, Southboro (4)
- \$175:** Amherst (1)
- \$165:** Southampton (1)
- \$150:** Concord, Holliston, Longmeadow, Stoneham (4)
- \$130:** Ludlow (1)
- \$125:** Methuen (1)
- \$110:** North Andover (1)
- \$100:** Abington, Amesbury, Andover, Bedford, Belchertown, Boston, Braintree, Brewster, Brimfield, Chelmsford, Danvers, Dartmouth, Dover, Duxbury, Easthampton, East Longmeadow, Fairhaven, Fall River, Framingham, Gloucester, Hadley, Lawrence, Lee, Lenox, Marlboro, Newburyport, Newton, Northampton, Northbridge, Norwell, Provincetown, Saugus, Sharon, Stockbridge, Tyngsboro, Waltham, Wareham, Watertown, West Boylston, Westford, Weymouth, Wilbraham, Winchester (43)
- \$75:** Chelsea, Halifax, Lynnfield, Malden, Marblehead, Marshfield, Medway, Palmer, Reading, Revere, South Hadley, Walpole (12)
- \$70:** Acton (1)
- \$60:** Georgetown (1)
- \$50:** Ashland, Auburn, Barnstable, Belmont, Beverly, Blackstone, Bourne, Chicopee, Dalton, Eastham, Everett, Fitchburg, Grafton, Great Barrington, Greenfield, Groveland, Hanover, Harwich, Holyoke, Lancaster, Leominster, Lowell, Lynn, Mashpee, Middleton, Millis, Middleton, Millville, Monterey, Nantucket, Natick, Newbury, Norfolk, Pittsfield, Plainville, Plymouth, Randolph, Raynham, Salem, Scituate, Somerset, Southbridge, Southwick, Sturbridge, Swampscott, Tewksbury, Upton, Wakefield, Wayland, West Bridgewater, West Springfield, Westfield, Westport, Westwood, Whitman (55)
- \$40:** Salisbury (1)
- \$35:** Dudley, Montague, Pembroke, Webster, Worcester (5)
- \$30:** Adams, Avon, Chatham, Kingston (4)
- \$25:** Ashburnham, Athol, Attleboro, Barre, Billerica, Blandford, Boxboro, Burlington, Cambridge, Carver, Clinton, Cohasset, Dracut, Easton, Essex, Falmouth, Gardner, Granby, Hamilton, Hanson, Haverhill, Hingham, Holbrook, Holden, Hudson, Lakeville, Manchester, Maynard, Medfield, Monson, Nahant, North Adams, North Attleboro, Norton, Orange, Peabody, Rehoboth, Rockland, Royalston, Shrewsbury, Somerville, Spencer, Taunton, Templeton, Topsfield, Townsend, Westminster, Wilmington, Winchendon, Wrentham, Yarmouth (51)
- \$20:** Canton, Dunstable, Groton, Hull, Littleton, Mendon, Merrimac, Northboro, Orleans, Quincy, Sherborn, Stoughton, Sunderland, Uxbridge, Westboro (15)
- \$15:** Hopkinton, Springfield (2)
- \$10:** Aquinnah, Bolton, Boylston, Chilmark, Edgartown, Egremont, Lanesboro, Leicester, Marion, Millbury, North Reading, Norwood, Oak Bluffs, Otis, Oxford, Princeton, Rochester, Rutland, Swansea, Tisbury, Ware, West Tisbury (22)
- \$5:** Brockton, Charlton, East Bridgewater, Hardwick, Hubbardston, Ipswich, Middleboro, New Braintree, Oakham, Paxton, Petersham, Phillipston, Stow, Whately (14)
- \$2:** Acushnet (1)
- \$1:** Ashby (1)
- NO CHARGE:** Ayer, Berkley, Buckland, Deerfield, Dennis, Dighton, Gill, Hatfield, Heath, Hinsdale, Lincoln, Mansfield, Mattapoisett, Medford, Richmond, Rowley, Sandwich, Seekonk, Shelburne, Shirley, Sudbury, Sunderland, Truro, Tyringham, Wellfleet, Wenham, West Newbury, Williamsburg, Woburn (29)